

UNIVERSITY OF CALGARY | WERKLUND SCHOOL OF EDCUATION

GRADUATE STUDENT RESEARCH MANUAL: FOCUS GROUPS & INTERVIEWS

Prepared by:

Sarah Elaine Eaton and Barbara Brown

August 2017

Disclaimer

This manual is largely based on this previously released publication:

Eaton, S. E. (2017). *Research assistant training manual: Focus groups*. Calgary: University of Calgary. Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/1880/51811

In the interest of transparency and integrity, we declare that entire sections of the previously published document have been reproduced here for the purposes of speaking directly to a graduate student audience.

Permissions

This work is licensed under a <u>Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 4.0</u> International License.

This document is not confidential and can be freely shared with any interested party. This report may not be sold or used commercially.



Citation (APA, 6th edition)

Werklund School of Education University of Calgary 2500 University Drive NW Calgary, AB, T2N 1N4 www. ucalgary.ca

Table of Contents

Abstract
Introduction6
Overview of The Research Project
Overview of Interviews and Focus Groups
Duration
Location
Focus Group Size
Ethics
Focus Group or Interview Questions
Participant Recruitment
Planning Your Data Collection
Room or Venue Booking11
Communications Protocol and Cell Phone Use
Recording the Focus Group or Interview
Focus Group or Interview Room Set-Up13
Facilitating a Focus Group Discussion or Interview13
Dealing with Interruptions and People Leaving Early15
Concluding the Focus Group or Interview15
After the Focus Group / Interview
Vacating the venue

Reflection	16
Preparing data for analysis	17
Transcribing the recording	17
Data analysis	18
Reporting the results	18
Works Consulted	19
Appendix A: Checklist: Supplies	22
Appendix B: Checklist: One day prior to focus group / interview	23
Appendix C: Checklist: Day of focus group / interview	24
Appendix D: Template for Taking Field Notes	25
Appendix E: Template for Recruitment	26

Abstract

This manual is a practical training guide for Masters of Education students (referred to graduate-student researchers) in the Werklund School of Education, University of Calgary. It may also be applicable to students working in other fields or institutions. The purpose of this manual is to support graduate-student researchers on how to plan and conduct focus groups and interviews for qualitative research in the field of education. This manual is evidence-informed and includes additional references for researchers and research assistants to further develop their understanding of how to work successfully on a qualitative research project that collects data through focus groups.

Keywords: graduate-student researchers, training manual, qualitative research, focus groups, interviews

Introduction

The purpose of this document is to provide information to graduate-student researchers on how to conduct focus groups or interviews for purposes of collecting qualitative research data in the field of education. It also provides information on institutional requirements, such as ethics, as well as logistics and related information. Though it may have applicability in other disciplines or contexts, this guide has been specifically prepared for professional graduate-student researchers in the Werklund School of Education, University of Calgary.

Overview of The Research Project

Research projects involve several steps, starting an idea and then developing that idea into a project. Here is an overview of what a typical project might involve:

- Idea Incubation This starts with a concept or problem of practice that a researcher (in this
 case, you) thinks is worth exploring. This is the pre-proposal stage where broad ideas are
 sometimes introduced to others for general feedback. This helps you further develop those
 ideas so they are concrete enough for a proposal.
- 2. Proposal This is a general plan for what a researcher wants to do for his or her project. For example, students can prepare a proposal for an inquiry studying their own practice, designing an educational solution or developing an innovative approach to learning. The proposal generally includes a literature review, methodology, a timeline and a justification for the research is worth doing.
- 3. **Ethics** Any project involving the use of animal or human research participants requires ethics approval from the institutional research ethics board (REB). This is an important step in the process as many subsequent steps in project rely on receiving approval from the REB. In education, research projects are reviewed under the Conjoint Faculties Researcher Ethics Board (CFREB). Graduate-student researchers should check with their course instructors about getting ethical approval for course-based research. Graduate-student researchers should check with their academic program coordinators about getting ethical approval to conduct research that involves publicly sharing the results of the research.
- 4. **Recruit Research Participants** Participants are sometimes referred to as "informants", "key informants", "research subjects" or "research participants." For the purposes of simplicity, this training manual uses the term "participants".

- 5. Typical ways of recruiting participants include e-mail recruitment or posters. The steps for recruiting individuals to participate in the project must be approved by the REB as part of the ethics application. Appendix E provides a recruitment template that can be adapted by graduate-student researchers.
- 6. **Gather Data** A research project may involve more than one method of collecting data (e.g. focus groups and surveys). The guidelines covered in this manual pertain only to focus groups and interviews. Course based ethics clearance permits graduate –student researchers to conduct interviews and/or focus groups.
- 7. **Analyze Data** Once data have been gathered, they need to be analyzed. The first step is usually to transcribe the recordings. After that, you will begin to analyze the transcripts using a process called "coding." This involves identifying, organizing and sorting key themes that emerge from the data. This step of the project is likely to take a significant amount of time.
- 8. Write Up Results Once the data have been analyzed, you are ready to share what you found. This is generally referred to as "disseminating the results of the research." For MEd students, this almost always takes the form of a final paper in your Collaboratory of Practice course.

Overview of Interviews and Focus Groups

Interviews are one-on-one conversations with a research participant. Focus groups are also called "group interviews" or "group conversations" The objective is to gather qualitative research data from human research participants. The kind of data collected in interviews and focus groups usually relates to the participants':

- Beliefs
- Perceptions
- Opinions
- Views
- Values
- Experiences

For focus groups, two criteria make these group discussions "focused":

A clear and defined topic

 A common set of characteristics among participants (e.g. demographic, professional or other commonalities).

Both interviews and focus groups are comprised several elements: (1) the researcher; (2) the research participant; and (3) a set of questions to guide the conversation; and (4) a recording device.

Regardless of whether you are conducting an interview or a focus group, you will spend time organizing and scheduling your data collection. Participants will be advised in advance of the date, time and location.

Duration

We recommend that your interview or focus group last for a maximum of 60 minutes. If you think it is likely to last more than 60 minutes, either plan a break or schedule another meeting. Participants will likely be restless, tired, or hungry and may not want to continue.

Location

Choose a location that is both safe and convenient.

We recommend that for interviews you meet participants in a quiet, neutral location, such as a meeting room at the university, work place or school. We do not recommend or endorse that you meet research participants in their private homes, vehicles or any location where you, as a researcher feel vulnerable or unsafe.

A focus group is usually located in a place that lets people feel at ease, in an environment that allows people to be heard by each other, the facilitator, and the recorder. The graduate-student researcher must ensure that every participant's contribution is being captured for future data analysis. Focus group discussions are usually recorded via a digital recording device for later transcription and data analysis.

Focus Group Size

Focus groups vary in size, with a maximum usually being 12 to 15 people. It is recommended focus groups include a maximum of eight (8) participants for MEd graduate research projects. The larger the group, the more challenging it can be to moderate.

Ethics

All projects conducted at the University of Calgary involving human participants must be approved by the Conjoint Faculties Research Ethics Board (CFREB). Approval for the study is obtained before participants are recruited or focus groups occur. The project primary investigator (PI) will prepare and initiate the application to the CFREB. If conducting a course-based research project, graduate-student researchers will submit an ethics application to the instructor for approval. If conducting a research project that will involve publicly sharing findings beyond course work, the graduate-student researcher should consult with the academic program coordinator to complete an ethics application for CFREB approval. The academic program coordinator will be listed as the PI for the research project and graduate-student researcher will be listed as a member of the research team.

As a graduate-student researcher, you must be an approved member of the research team, according to CFREB regulations. This will mean completing an ethics tutorial that is required of all researchers in Canada called the Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct of Research Involving Humans, 2nd edition (TCPS 2) Tutorial Course on Research Ethics (CORE). Upon completion of the tutorial, you will be issued a certificate in .pdf format. Save your certificate on your computer using a file name you will remember.

You must register with the University of Calgary's Institutional Research Information Services Solution (IRISS). Uploading a copy of your certificate of completion of the TCPS2 CORE Tutorial will be part of that process. You will not be permitted to participate in focus groups or have any contact with research participants until you have been formally added to the research study team.

Once you have been approved by the REB as part of the research team, you should be able to see the entire ethics application online, including a copy of the approval certificate for the research project. You may want to download a copy of the approval certificate in case you ever need it. If you are conducting a research project under the course-based ethics approval, your instructor can provide you with a copy of the approval certificate for the course.

Focus Group or Interview Questions

As a graduate-student researcher, you will need to write a few questions (5-10) to guide the focus group or interview so that they are unbiased and purposely do not try to "lead" participants into giving a particular answer. Well-written questions are exploratory and open-ended, as they are intended to allow participants to share their ideas, thoughts and beliefs without judgement or influence. Well-written questions are free from jargon or complicated technical terms. They also avoid inflammatory or emotional language.

When you are conducting a focus group or interview it is important to adhere to the approved questions.

Participant Recruitment

The steps involved in recruiting participants, as well as any recruitment materials (e.g. posters, brochures or even e-mail invitations) must also be approved by the institutional research ethics board. Recruitment cannot begin until ethics approval has been obtained. A sample recruitment template is provided in the Appendix E.

Planning Your Data Collection

In addition to developing the research questions, recruiting participants and receiving ethical approval to conduct the research, there are numerous logistical elements involved in conducting research. (See the checklists included as Appendices.)

Room or Venue Booking

It will be up to you to secure a venue. This might include obtaining information about venue availability and logistical information about how the venue might need to be booked.

If the focus group is being held on campus, the protocol to book rooms may involve certain institutional privileges. You may need to work with a member of the administrative staff to book a room or he or she may book the rooms directly.

Communications Protocol and Cell Phone Use

On the day of your interview or focus group, be discreet and judicious with your phone. Keep your cell phone on, but at least 10 minutes participants arrive, turn your phone to silent mode. During data collection, do not use your phone for any purposes not related to the research except in the case of an emergency. By this, we are talking about a real emergency, not social calls.

Ensure that someone you trust knows where you are at all times, particularly if you are meeting research participants at a venue you have never been to before.

Recording the Focus Group or Interview

Focus groups and interviews can be recorded in one of three ways, using audio, video or field notes.

It is probable that a video or audio recording will provide the primary source of data for analysis. Note-taking is usually considered a secondary or back-up way to collect data. Ideally, you want to capture data in more than one way (e.g. recording and field notes). If you are recording a session, it is not unusual to have both a primary and a back-up recording device in case one fails or a recording is accidentally erased. (This can happen more easily than you might think.)

The institutional ethics review board must approve the type of recording(s) that can be used on a project. You must adhere to the institutionally approved methods for recording your focus group. For example, if you have not been approved video record your focus group, do not do so. For MEd course-based research, approval has been granted only for audio recording.

Audio recording – If you are audio-recording your session, use a high quality digital voice recorder. and have a back-up- recorder available. Do not use your personal mobile device (e.g. phone or tablet) to audio record focus groups unless you have explicit permission to do so from the ethics review board. Practice setting up and using the audio recording device before the focus group runs. Ensure there is a memory card or other approved data storage. Also, be sure you have extra batteries for the device.

Keep any recording devices running until the last participant has left the room. That way, if there are any stragglers who want to make contributions after the main conversation has concluded, you can still capture their input with the recording device.

Field notes – You may take notes throughout as a secondary source for data analysis. Be sure to include the following information in your field notes:

- Date and time of the focus group / interview
- Location.
- Names of participants / pseudonyms

See Appendix D of this guide for a helpful template that can assist you in taking notes.

Remember that your field notes become part of the permanent element of the data collection for the research project. Here are a few tips to help you produce high quality field notes:

- Write out complete words. Avoid using short-hand or "texting" shortcuts such as "R" instead of "are".
- Write out complete sentences. Avoid bullet points and sentence fragments.
- Use quotation marks to denote direct quotations from participants.
- Use brackets or square brackets to indicate editorial or additional comments such as laughter, gestures, body language, etc. Limit the amount of editorial comments you record. Your primary goal is to objectively capture what the participants said and did during data collection.
- Avoid vague indicators such as "he said..." and instead use names, pseudonyms or research participant numbers, as per the project protocol.

Try to be as specific as possible with your notes. Unless you are a highly-skilled and experienced note taker, do not expect to be able to write out every word that is said. Capture the main ideas in complete sentences. The more practice you get taking notes during focus groups, the easier it will become.

You can ask participants to slow down if they are talking too quickly or ask for clarification if you having a hard time taking notes on what someone is saying.

Focus Group or Interview Room Set-Up

Ensure the room is set up so everyone can see each other. The objective is to create an environment where people feel free to exchange ideas and have a conversation.

Set out refreshments (i.e. water jug/ glasses) before everyone arrives if needed. Graduate-student researchers are not provided with any funding for hospitality expenses through their course work.

Ensure the trash can in the room is lined with a garbage bag. You will remove any garbage left in the room after the focus group ends and it is easier to do this if you have already lined the trash can with a bag before the focus group starts.

Facilitating a Focus Group Discussion or Interview

Facilitating a focus group is also sometimes called "moderating." Regardless of the name it goes by, leading a focus group discussion requires skill and acumen. The Facilitator listens to the participants and keeps the discussion moving forward, while remaining completely neutral throughout the process. Remaining neutral does not mean being devoid of emotion. Be pleasant and warm with participants. It is up to the moderator to create a climate that is warm and welcoming for participants. Similar strategies can be used when conducting an individual semi-structured interview.

Before you start asking the focus group questions, be sure to introduce yourself to participants. Ensure that everyone has signed a consent form. If not, have them sign one at the start of the session. You may also ask participants to make themselves name tags. If they have chosen a pseudonym, they should write their pseudonym on their name tag, rather than their real name.

Invite participants to help themselves to water or other refreshments if provided. Tell them where the nearest public washrooms are and let them know how long you expect the focus group to take.

Start the recording. Remind participants that the session is being recorded. State the date and location of the focus group. From this point forward, refer to participants by their pseudonym if they have chosen one. Avoid referring to participants by their real names on the recording.

Here are some tips to help you:

Manage the time – It is your job to ensure the focus group starts and ends on time and that there is enough time for each of the key discussion questions. Tell participants at the beginning how long

the focus group is scheduled for. It is recommended graduate-student researchers keep the focus group or interview within a one-hour timeframe.

Keep participants focused – Sometimes participants try to take the discussion in a direction that is not aligned with your questions. Some participants may ramble or veer off into stories or examples that are not relevant. It is your job to keep them on task and focused.

Ensure everyone participates – Some participants may be more reserved and others may try to dominate the conversation. Ensure everyone gets a change to speak. If you notice someone has not spoken up, it is OK to turn your direction to that person and use a prompt such as, "I'm interested to know your point of view on this. What are your thoughts?" or "I noticed that [Participant] hasn't had a chance to comment on this yet. Let's give him / her a chance to contribute."

Manage those who try to dominate - If someone is dominating the conversation, do not be afraid to say, "OK, thanks for that. Now we need to hear from someone else." If a dominant participants cuts someone else off mid-sentence, you are allowed to say, "Please let [Participant] finish."

Moderating disagreement - Participants are allowed to agree or disagree with one another on their answers. Do not take sides or strive for consensus. The objective is not for everyone to agree, but rather to allow participants to exchange ideas in a candid, comfortable and safe environment. If a participant declares that someone else's opinion offends them, you can say "There are no right or wrong answers in this focus group. We respect everyone's right to have their own opinion." Then, keep the discussion moving forward. Do not allow the group to dwell on one person's dismay or indignance.

Probe for further details – While it is important to stick with the questions approved by the institutional research ethics board, the moderator is allowed to probe for deeper insights by using questions and phrases such as:

- Please give us an example.
- Why is this important to you?
- Does anyone have anything else to add on this point?

Pay attention to stragglers – Some people may wait until the focus group is ending to speak up. If this is the case, take the time to pay attention. You may be asked to supplement the field notes after the focus group to capture that individual's contributions.

Dealing with Interruptions and People Leaving Early

Participants are not required to stay for the entire time. If someone needs to leave early, thank them for participating and graciously allow them to exit.

If the focus group or interview is interrupted by an outsider, make every effort to protect the identities of the participants. Open the door, but then step outside the room immediately, not allowing the outsider to enter the room. If this happens near the end of the focus group time, it could be that the outsider has simply arrived for another meeting scheduled in the same room after the focus group ends. Politely inform the person there is a focus group in session and ask them to return later.

If you are interrupted by a fire alarm, ensure the participants' exit the room quickly. Take all recording devices and confidential documentation (e.g. consent forms) with you. Participants' safety is more important than data collection. Ensure all participants and you exit the building safely.

Concluding the Focus Group or Interview

As you conclude the focus group or interview, be sure these steps have been completed:

- Ensure all questions have been asked.
- Ensure consent forms have been signed and gathered.
- Thank your participant(s) for their time.
- If there is an incentive (e.g. gift card) for participants, ensure each person receives their gift on the way out. MEd graduate-student researchers are not provided with a research budget to support purchasing gift incentives. The Course-based research ethics also does not include gift incentives. Incentives should only be provided if approved by REB.

Be sure to tell participants that you value their time and effort. Reinforce that research is being done for them and with them.

Let people know how the results of the work will be disseminated (e.g. reports, conference presentations, etc.) If there are public presentations planned to share the results of the project, let participants know they are welcome to attend. If there are follow-up groups or other meetings that participants should be aware of, remind them of these too. Graduate-student researcher conducting research as part of the course-based ethics applications will only share the findings during the course and will not share research publicly.

Participants should leave the focus group feeling valued and appreciated.

After the Focus Group / Interview

Vacating the venue

Ensure that you leave the venue in the same condition you found it. This includes, but is not limited to:

- Arranging tables and chairs neatly. Tuck chairs underneath the tables.
- Remove any food, drink or garbage from the room. Note that if you are hosting a focus
 group on campus, the garbage is not picked up from some meeting rooms daily. Tie up any
 garbage bags in the room and remove the garbage when you leave the room. Deposit the
 garbage in a trash can in a publicly accessible area (e.g. in a hallway near the elevators) so
 the waste will be removed that same day, or in a dumpster outside.
- Turn off the lights.
- Double-check the door to ensure it locks behind you.

Reflection

Take some time after the focus group or interview to reflect on your experience. All aspects of the focus group or interview can be included in your reflection including the venue, the process, the recording and any other elements that are worth noting. Some questions that you might think about to guide your reflection are:

- In general, what worked well?
- How was the venue?
- Could everyone see and hear each other OK?
- Was the environment comfortable (e.g. not too cold, too hot, etc.)?
- Did the recording work?
- Did participants understand the questions?
- Was there any confusion among participants about the questions or the process?
- Did you get usable data?
- What points do you need to pay attention to for next time?

Your reflections can be used as part of your field notes for that session and may be helpful when analyzing the data and preparing your final report.

Preparing data for analysis

There are a few steps that need to be completed to prepare the data for analysis:

- Ensure your field notes are legible and comprehensible. Review them to ensure what you wrote down actually makes sense.
- Ensure data are anonymized. Participants' real names should not appear anywhere except on the consent forms unless they have specifically requested that their real names be used.
- Make a back-up of your recording. One copy will be used for transcription. The other copy
 will be kept in the project archive. If you are working with a transcriptionist, do not send
 him or her your only copy of the recorded data!
- Ensure the recording is saved in the appropriate format. If you are working with a professional transcriptionist, ensure the recording is saved in his or her preferred format.

Transcribing the recording

Recordings may be sent away to a professional transcriptionist or you might do that yourself. REB approval is needed if a transcriptionist will be involved in the project. Often, Master of Education students do their own transcriptions. Graduate-student researchers conducting course-based research will transcribe their own data and do not have ethics clearance to send recordings to a transcriptionist.

Data analysis

In general, focus group and interview analysis will involve systematically identifying and summarizing:

- Themes
- Patterns
- Perspectives
- Perceptions
- Experiences

Reporting the results

Focus group results can be reported in various ways including:

• Capstone research project (e.g. Collaboratory of Practice final paper)

Other ways to mobilize knowledge from your project could include:

- Poster presentation
- Conference presentation
- Journal article

Graduate-student researchers conducting research under the course-based ethics clearance are permitted to share the results during the course and are not permitted to share the results publicly. Graduate-student researchers that would like to share the results publicly need to consult with the academic program coordinator and complete an individual ethics application.

Works Consulted

The following works informed and influenced the development of this guide:

- Byrne, B. (2004). Qualitative interviewing. In C. Seale (Ed.), *Researching Society and Culture* (2nd ed., pp. 179-192). London: Sage Publications.
- Creswell, J. W. (2011). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research (Fourth ed.): Pearson.
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative and mixed methods approaches (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Danovitch, J. (2010). Working with undergraduate research assistants: Setting up and maintaining a research laboratory. Observer, 23(8). Retrieved from www.psychologicalscience.org/index.php/publications/observer/2010/october-10/working-with-undergraduate-research-assistants-setting-up-and-maintaining-a-research-laboratory.html
- Dawson, S., Manderson, L., & Tallo, V. L. (1992). The focus group manual Retrieved from http://www.ircwash.org/sites/default/files/125-10840.pdf
- Eaton, S. E. (2017). *Research assistant training manual: Focus groups*. Calgary: University of Calgary. Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/1880/51811
- Education Training Services. (n.d.). Focus Group Planning Checklist. Retrieved from http://www.etr.org/cisp/access-resources/focus-areas/organizational-development/focus-groups-planning-checklist-pdf/
- Elliot & Associates. (2005). Guidelines for conducting a focus group. Retrieved from https://assessment.trinity.duke.edu/documents/How_to_Conduct_a_Focus_Group.pdf
- Family Health International. (n.d.). Qualitative focus groups: A data collector's field guide. Retrieved from https://sa-assessment.uoregon.edu/Portals/0/focusgroups1.pdf
- FocusGroupTips.Com. (n.d.). Moderator Check List to Conduct Focus Groups or Depth

 Interviews. Retrieved from http://www.focusgrouptips.com/conduct-focus-groups.html

- Harrell, M. C., & Bradley, M. A. (2009). Training manual: Data collection methods: Semi-structured interviews and focus groups. Santa Monica, CA: RAND Corporation. Retrieved from http://www.mbamedicine.activemoodle.com/mod/resource/view.php?id=486
- Jordan Civil Society Program (CSP). (2012). How to engage your stakeholders in designing, monitoring and evaluating your Programs: A step-by-step guide to focus group research for non-governmental organizations Retrieved from http://staff.estem-uc.edu.au/taipham/files/2013/01/A-Step-by-Step-Guide-to-Focus-Group-Research.pdf
- Kielman, K., Cataldo, F., & Seeley, J. (2012). Introduction to qualitative research methodology: A training manual. *Department for International Development (DfID)*. Retrieved from https://rbfhealth.org/sites/rbf/files/Introduction%20to%20Qualitative%20Research%20Methodology%20-%20A%20Training%20Manual.pdf
- Krueger, R. A., & Casey, M. A. (2015). Focus groups: a practical guide for applied research (5th ed.).

 Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications Inc.
- Mancini Billson, J. (2006). Conducting focus group research across cultures: Consistency and comparability. Retrieved from http://www.welldev.org.uk/research/workingpaperpdf/wed27.pdf
- Miles, M. B., Huberman, A. M., & Saldana, J. (2014). Qualitative data analysis: A methods sourcebook (3rd. ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Modesto, T. S. (Ed.) (2013). Preparing your dissertation at a distance: A research guide. Virtual University for the Small States of the Commonwealth (VUSSC) and the Southern African Development Community (SADC), Centre for Distanced Education (CDE) (SADC-CDE). Retrieved from http://www.sadc.int/files/3713/7821/2867/Dissertation_PDF.pdf
- Reilly, L. (2013). Training handbook: Organizing and facilitating focus groups. Alexandria: VA.

 National School Boards Association. Retrieved from https://cdn-files.nsba.org/s3fs-public/05_PET_FocusGroups_Handbook.pdf?cVFz.heuGUiKZnO.caQz8Qjftx7AV9Fk
- Shallwani, S., & Mohammed, S. (2007). Community-based participatory research: A training manual for community-based researchers. Retrieved from http://www.livingknowledge.org/fileadmin/Dateien-Living-
 Knowledge/Dokumente_Dateien/Toolbox/LK_A_Training_manual.pdf

- Temple University. (2004). Module III: Qualitative data: Focus group tools. Rapid policy assessment and response. Retrieved from
 - http://www.temple.edu/lawschool/phrhcs/rpar/tools/english/Module%20III_tools.pdf.
- Temple University. (2004). Module III: Qualitative data: Focus groups: Training materials. Rapid policy assessment and response. Retrieved from
 - http://www.temple.edu/lawschool/phrhcs/rpar/tools/english/Module%20III_training.pdf.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Focus group check list. Retrieved from https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-09/focus_group_checklist.doc

Appendix A: Checklist: Supplies

Two (2) Digital recorders
Extra batteries
Name tags
Markers
Extra consent forms
Extra pens
Watch /clock / phone
Attendee list
Refreshments
Napkins / paper plates / cups
Garbage bags

Appendix B: Checklist: One day prior to focus group / interview

	Ensure digital voice recorders are in good working order.								
	Ensure you have extra batteries for voice recorders. (If not, buy extra batteries.)								
	If applicable, order refreshments.								
	Assemble or review the contents of your Data Collection Kit to ensure have:								
	0	name tags							
	0	markers							
	0	pens							
	0	names of participant(s)							
	0	extra consent forms							
	0	recording device(s)							
	0	extra batteries for recording device(s)							
	0	napkins							
	0	paper plates							
	0	cups							
	0	garbage bags							
	Find the room where the focus group will be held and print off a map, if needed.								
☐ Send a reminder to participants individually.									

Appendix C: Checklist: Day of focus group / interview

Arrive early to the venue / room.
Set up tables and chairs so everyone can see one another.
Set out refreshments, name tags and markers.
Set up digital voice recorders.

Appendix D: Template for Taking Field Notes

This template can help you take effective notes during a focus group or interview. Adapt it to each situation as appropriate. Remember to include notes about unusual occurrences such as interruptions.

Research Project Title:							
Date:	[Day, month, year]	Time:	Include both start and end				
			time.				
Location:							
Researcher:							
Participants:	[Write names or pseudonyms of participants, as per research project protocol).						
Q1:	[Write out the question in full so you know which responses pertain to which						
	question. Write our participants responses as fully as you can. Use quotation						
	marks to denote direct quotations from participants.]						
Q2, etc.	[Same steps as Q1.]						

Appendix E: Template for Recruitment

This template has been approved for course-based ethics. You can adapt this template for your study.

Name of Researcher, Faculty, Department, Telephone & Email:

Supervisor (Academic Coordinator & Course Instructor):

Title of Project:

You are invited to participate in a research study called:

You were selected to be part of this study because you are known to me (personal or professional contact) and I am not in a position of authority or supervise you in your professional role. Your participation in this study will provide me with an authentic, real-world research experience. This study will be used to prepare a report as partial fulfillment in completing the MEd degree.

The purpose of the study is to:

The research question is:

Participation in this study is voluntary and you may refuse to participate, refuse to participate in parts of the study or may withdraw from the study at any time during the study without penalty. Should you choose to withdraw from the study, you have the right to request the withdrawal of your data. However, all data up until the date of withdrawal may still be used in the aggregated data collected for purposes of this study. The last point of possible withdrawal from the study is ______ so the final report can be completed for the Collaboratory of Practice Course.

This study has been approved by the University of Calgary Conjoint Faculties Research Ethics Board.

Attached to this letter is a consent form that fully explains the intended research and the role that you might play in providing information to inform the study. Please read the consent form carefully. If you give your consent to participate in the interview (and/or focus group), please sign the form and return to the researchers within two (2) weeks of receipt of this letter.